

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL-R in Predicting Recidivism among Texas' Sexual Violent Predators

Diana Jefferson Jefferson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Clinical Psychology Commons</u>, <u>Criminology Commons</u>, and the <u>Criminology and</u>

Criminal Justice Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Diana Jefferson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Sharon Xuereb, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty
Dr. Robert Meyer, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty
Dr. Rodney Ford, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL-R in Predicting Recidivism among Texas' Sexual Violent Predators

by

Diana Angela Jefferson

MS., Capella University, 2003

BS, Morgan State University, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Clinical Psychology Concentration

Walden University

August 2017

Abstract

Recidivism within the sexually violent predator (SVP) population has gained worldwide attention because of the lack of protection offered to the victims that may lead to loss of life. Behavioral theory suggests that accuracy of predictive behaviors based on empirical judgement is more reliable than that based on clinical judgement. The purpose of this research was to see whether three actuarial assessment tools, Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R, could predict recidivism and whether the combination of the threeincreased predictive value in the Texas SVP population. As yet, the literature provides no evidence. The Texas Open Record System provided assessment scores and violations of 90 SVPs committed during fiscal years 2009-2013. Texas had 58.9% violated commitment laws within the SVP population of the civil commitment program. The scores on these three assessment tools were analyzed along with the violations using bivariate logistic regression. According to the results, Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R can, in combination, predict recidivism better than any tool by itself in the Texas SVP. However, individually, only the PCL-R approached significance as a predictor. This study could lead to positive social change in both the targeted treatment of labeled SVP and in the accuracy of predicting recidivism among SVPs. Therapists should use the three actuarial assessment tools when developing treatment plans, intervention techniques, and when adjusting supervision requirements to assist in both targeted treatment and to reduce the number of victims.

Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL-R in Predicting Recidivism among Texas' Sexual Violent Predators

by

Diana Angela Jefferson

MS., Capella University, 2003 BS, Morgan State University, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Clinical Psychology Concentration

Walden University

August 2017

Dedication

This project is dedicated to my son, Shuwan, my parents, my aunt Diana, and my uncles who have given me strength, support and determination to accomplish this lifelong goal.

Acknowledgments

I have realized that without the love and support of my mother and my son this would not have happened. The moments of reassurance and love that they both offered to me, where often the difference between completion and giving up.

The achievement of this personal goal has been both a struggle and the most rewarding of my professional life. Thinking back to the lessons that were taught to me, my grandmother Lela was the inspiration behind the idea that you are more than intelligent and determined to accomplish anything. This focus has been demonstrated several times over my lifetime by both her and her children, thus providing me with support and drive even after her death. The biggest lesson came from my uncles in their life's lessons that people are complex and loving a person fully means accepting both their short and long-lasting personality traits. Overall, the support of my paternal family and their "never give up mentality" has helped me more than words can mention, during the depth of despair and struggles that academic success can bring.

I would like to give a personal thanks to my previous instructors who reminded me that I would make a wonderful psychologist. On the same note, Dr. Lilly, my site supervisor for practicum and internship, who showed me the love of counseling and the ability to complete the puzzle of human behavior for clients, as well as the understanding of assessment tools regarding the prediction of behavior. Thank you for your love, positive memories, and encouragement, which maintained my focus and success.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesiv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study
Background2
Assessment for Sexually Violent Predators
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study4
Research Question and Hypotheses
Theoretical Framework
Nature of the Study8
Definition of Important Terms9
Assumptions of the Study10
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations and Delimitations
Limitations of the Study11
Implications
Summary
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Legal Justification for Sex Offender Laws
SVP Civil Commitment Laws in Practice
The Recidivism Assumption About Sexually Violent Individuals21
Measures Required for Individuals Committed to the OSVPTP22

	Static-99.	22	
	Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R)	24	
	Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tool-Revised (MnSOST-R)	25	
	Summary	26	
Cł	napter 3: Research Method.	28	
	Research Design and Rationale.	29	
	Methodology	30	
	Population and Sampling Procedures	30	
	Dataset	31	
	Instrumentation	32	
	Threats to Validity	34	
	Ethical Considerations	34	
	Data Analysis Plan	35	
	Summary	36	
Cł	napter 4: Results	38	
	Data Collection.	39	
	Results	40	
	Research Question 1	41	
	Research Question 2	43	
	Summary	44	
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendation			
	Interpretation of Study	45	

Limitation of Study	48
Recommendations	50
Implications	51
Conclusion	55
References	57

List of Tables

Table 1. Mean and Standard Deviation for Assessment and Violations40
Table 2. Frequency and Percentage of Violation
Table 3. Logistic Regression Analysis about whether a combination of Scores Increase
Predictive Value of Recidivism42
Table 4. Logistic Regression Analysis If differences in Assessment Scores Factor in
Predicting Recidivism

Chapter 1

Introduction

The introduction of civil commitment laws continues to be debated by both offenders and society (Harris et al., 2003; Jackson & Richards, 2007; McLawsen, Scalora, & Darrow, 2012; Rettenberger et al., 2009). This dissertation explored the ability of three assessment tools (Static-99, MnSOST-R, PCL-R) to predict recidivism among the sexually violent predator (SVP) population in the State of Texas and whether combining the scores adds to the predictive value.

To better understand this debate, first evaluate the social concerns that led to the civil commitment laws. During the late 1980s, several new sexually violent offenses were linked to the recommission of sexually based crimes by previous offenders (Aizenman & Kelley, 1988). This link between sexually violent crimes and recidivism continues to this day. Thus, society has demanded that a legal system be developed and maintained as a protective measure against sexual offender recidivism which, lead to the development of civil commitment laws.

Individuals who commit these sorts of crimes are more likely than other types of former criminals to recidivate into additional sexual crimes (Aizenman & Kelley, 1988; Weiss & Bala, 2009; Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). Most SVPs were found to be previously convicted of multiple sexual violent crimes, and all too often, they were sentenced to mental health facilities that offered treatment with little or no consequences for negative behaviors (Aizenman & Kelley, 1988). With that in mind, research focused on general sex offenders did not considered the complexities that SVP present. It is SVP

that is often released without the tools to prevent recidivism, thus allowing them to return to society to reoffend (Allan et al., 2006; Beech et al., 2003; Hanson & Bussiere, 1998).

Due to increased social pressure and public concern, 21 states have introduced protective measures to control and identify sex offenders who are more likely to reoffend (Weiss & Bala, 2009). Texas has mandated that individuals within this group are to be identified as SVPs. The state has established an organized framework for SVPs that includes immediate placement in intensive treatment and confinement to a designated halfway house under contract with the division of the Texas Department of Criminal Justice (Weiss & Bala, 2009). This chapter explores (a) the background of the SVP population, (b) the definition of SVP, (c) the history of the civil commitment process, (d) the requirements of this label and the individuals examined for civil commitment. This chapter also expressed the problem and the purpose of this current study, then identify the research question, hypotheses, theoretical framework and nature of this study. Finally, this chapter explored the definition of important terms, assumptions, scope and delimitation, limitations of the study, and the significance of this study.

Background

State of Texas defines SVPs as individuals with multiple sexually violent offenses or sexual offenses that demonstrate a high risk of repeating sexually violent offenses.

Texas defines "sexually violent offenses" as inappropriate sexual contacts with a minor or adult, aggravated kidnapping with sexual assault, and burglary of a habitation (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). The state has added possession of "sexually explicit material" as an additional basis for classifying an offender as an SVP. Sexually explicit

material covers the use of internet pornographic material, material that included victims, and other characteristic material considered to motivate sexual desires and pathways used in the solicitation of minors to sexual activities (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010).

Assessments for SVPs

Several measures have been used to predict risk level, which is then used to label an individual as a SVP and court-order that person into the Texas Civil Commitment Program (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). The Static-99 is an actuarial risk evaluation tool that is frequently used in the assessment of SVPs (Boccaccini et al., 2010). It measures the level of sexually deviant behavior, specific characteristics of previous victims, persistence of sexual offending, and emotional or antisocial personality disorders. Another example, the MnSOST-R (Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tool) evaluates certain aspects of the individual, such as age, sex, occupation, and mental health, to determine whether the individual is a likely a sexually violent predator (Boccaccini et al., 2010). The PCL-R (Psychopathy Checklist-Revised) is used to assess the possibility of psychopathy, that is, a personality disorder that is characterized mainly by diminished remorse and empathy, bold and antisocial behavior (Boccaccini et al., 2010). TheState of Texas requires all three tools be used before the individual can be labeled a SVP (McLawsen, Scalora, & Darrow, 2012).

In many states, including Texas, scores on these scales are used to determine whether a SVP can be released. However, there is limited research to support the

effectiveness of these tools for predicting recidivism with the SVP population. This remains an issue both for debate and during budget allocations.

Problem Statement

State of Texas has continued to identify individuals as belonging to the classification of SVPs. They are being confined to civil commitment programs across the country based, in part, on their scores on assessment instruments. However, there is limited research to support the effectiveness of these tools for predicting recidivism with the SVP population. (Epperson et al., 2003; Hanson & Thornton, 2000; Hare, 1990). Researchers have agreed that the assessment tools are effective in the validity of the SVP label, but continued debate exists and limited research is available about the tools' ability to predict *recidivism* in the SVP population (Boccaccini et al., 2010; Harris et al., 2003; Knight & Thornton, 2007; McLawsen, Scalora, & Darrow, 2012; Neller & Petris, 2013; Wollert, 2006).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative research study was twofold to evaluate (a) how the combination of the Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R scores add predictive value to determine recidivism and (b) whether the three actuarial assessment tools predict recidivism for SVPs who were committed in the State of Texas Civil Outpatient Commitment Program during the 2009-2013 fiscal years, which examined the first year the individual SVP was commitment in Texas. The SVPs were given testing for admission and court ordered into program during the 2009-2013 fiscal years were sampled. The dependent variable was recidivism, defined as committing new offenses or

not adhering to the policy of the program. The independent variables were the Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R scores. These are the assessment tools that are court-ordered before the SVP label can be applied; they are also required for release decisions. The amount of research on this population is very limited. While the introduction of national laws (Megan law and Adam Walch law) and the increased demand of both federal and state tax dollars used to support these programs continue to increase tax burdens to society.

However, laws and programs without research to confirm? the degree of prevention is a disservice to both society and the offenders. Several offenders have filed lawsuits suggesting that Civil Commitment Laws is a violation of the double jeopardy law and is used as additional punishment due to the lack of research available on the effectiveness of the Texas Civil Outpatient Commitment Program (Supreme Court of Kansas, 1997). These lawsuits have gone all the way to the federal Supreme Court and have been defended, based mostly on the conclusion that civil commitment is not punitive but rehabilitative for individuals who are viewed as "volitionally impaired" meaning that the person cannot control his or her behavior, and therefore has a higher likelihood of re-offending (Boccaccini et al., 2009; Campbell, 2007; Cann, Friendship, & Gozna, 2007).

This research has the potential to increase awareness of SVP crime that has plagued American society including the State of Texas. In turn, increased awareness has the potential to support the efforts and the demanding budget requirements associated with the supervision and confinement alternative that makes Texas unique in the

treatment of SVPs. The results of this study are expected to provide data about the relationship of the tools to each other and about each tool's ability to predict recidivism.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The data were analyzed using bivariate linear regression analyses to explore whether the scores relate to each other and whether they predict recidivism among the SVP population in the Texas Civil Commitment Program. The trio of court-ordered assessments were conducted by licensed professionals, and yield a numeric total score. This study evaluated the following two research questions:

- 1. Does the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores increase the predictive value of recidivism in SVPs?
 - H10: There is no increase in predictive value of recidivism with the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in SVPs.
 - H1a: There are increase in predictive value of recidivism with the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in SVPs.
- 2. Are there differences among PCL-R, Static-99, and MnSOST-R scores in predicting recidivism in SVPs?
 - *H*2₀: There are no differences among PCL-R, Static-99, and MnSOST-R scores in predicting recidivism in SVPs.
 - *H2a*: There are differences among PCL-R, Static-99, and MnSOST-R scores in predicting recidivism in SVPs.

Theoretical Framework

This study used the behavioral theory developed by Paul E. Meehl (Meehl, 1965; Grove & Meehl, 1996; Peterson, 2006), which looks at the accuracy of prediction of behaviors based on clinical judgment versus empirical judgment. The key of this comparison of human behavior include exploring the differences between human judgment, which often includes contemplation and discussion with a client, as opposed to mechanical methods (i.e., actuarial methods) using objective procedures or equations to obtain judgements. This study the predictive value of recidivism when combinining three assessment tools, Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOSt-R, in assessing SVPs and whether these assessment tools (independent variable) can predict recidivism (dependent variable) in the Texas Civil Commitment Outpatient Program.

Meehl's theory posits that complex "empirical predictors" of abnormal behaviors are often more accurate in predicting of further behaviors than purely clinical judgments. Meehl defines empirical predictors as research supported attributes that have been proven to demonstrate abnormal behavior within a given population. Meehl expanded his research in Grove and Meehl (1996), and argued that most purely clinical methods—those that rely on human judgment—are often based on informal contemplation of the provider and, often, discussion with clients. The mechanical or actuarial method involves a formal, algorithmic, objective procedure or equation to reach decisions. Grove and Meehl further argued that empirical comparisons of accuracy between mechanical and actuarial methods are almost invariably equal or superior to mechanical methods:

Meehl's diary (as cited in Grove & Lloyd, 2006).

Peterson (2006) argued that empirical validation, such as statistical methods used in classification and prediction, would decrease erroneous clinical decisions in some circumstances, especially when criminal recidivism rates deviated from a normal contrast group. Peterson's study expanded Meehl's argument of statical accuracy in predicitions using a retrospective analysis of the three actuarial assessment tools—Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R—among the newly labeled SVP population (Peterson, 2006). With this expansion, I was able to evaluate if the conbnation of scores increase predictive value of recidivism and to see whether these actuarial assessment tools predicted recidivism in the newly labeled SVP population of the Texas Civil Commitment Outpatient program.

Thus, the present study used the following key variables—Static-99, PCL-R, MnSOST-R—to determine their ability to predict recidivism and the predictive value of combining the assessment tools in the Texas Civil Commitment Outpatient program using all of the newly labled SVP population within the 2009-2013 fiscal years.

Nature of the Study

This study used a quantitative research method to examine how the Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL-R scores combination of scores increase predictive value and whether these three assessments predicted recidivism in a newly labeled SVP population in the Texas Civil Commitment Program. This study was a retrospective exploration of the data received from the open-records database within the State of Texas database. The archival data were retrieved with the assistance of the database manager of the SVP system and provided to this researcher. The researcher had no direct contact with the participants or the Texas Civil Commitment database. The database manager for the State

of Texas forwarded the Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R, scores, of each of the newly labeled SVP during the 2009-2013 fiscal years. This researcher analyzed the data using bivariate linear regression to explore if the combination of the scores add to the predictive value (Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL-R) and whether the independent variables could predict recidivism among the SVP sample.

Definitions of Important Terms

Actuarial Assessment Tools: In psychometrics, tests that evaluate behavior based on statistical methods and confinement files used to predict behaviors (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). The specific actuarial assessment tools used in this study are the independent variables, Static-99, MnSOST-R, PCL-R.

CSOT: The Texas Counsel on Sex Offender Treatment. This department

The oversees the goals and requirements of the individuals in the SVP program (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010).

Recidivism of SVP: Intent to arouse or gratify the sexual desire of any person immediately before, during, or immediately after the attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation to violate or abuse another individual (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). Recidivism as defined by Council on Sex Offender Treatment is the dependent variable within this present study.

Sexually Violent Predator (SVP): Term used to refer to individuals who were convicted of more than three sexually violent offenses, identified as volitionally impaired, and court ordered into the Texas Outpatient Civil Commitment Program (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010).

Sexually Violent Offenses: Offenses that include indecency with a child by contact, sexual assault regardless of the age of the victim, aggravated sexual assault regardless of the age of the victim, aggravated kidnapping with the intent, burglary of a habitation with the intent, sexual motivated capital murder, sexually motivated murder, any attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation of the above (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010).

TDCJ: The Texas Department of Criminal Justice (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010).

Assumptions

This study was subject to three assumptions: (a) the statistical data received from the State of Texas and the information obtained from the database manager were accurate; (b) the individuals who conducted the three assessments performed and scored them correctly; (c) the individual confinement charts were accurate and the three assessment tools were accurately entered within the database. This research did not conduct the assessments nor have access to the database. According to Texas law, individual providers must only work with their area of competence and be licensed as a provider (Texas § 46B.002). Therefore, this research assumed the SVP scores were both accurate and accurately entered within the database.

Scope and Delimitations

The research was designed to explore the relationship between the independent variables, Static-99, MnSOST-R, PCL-R, and their accuracy in predicting recidivism within the first year of confinement in the Texas Civil Commitment Outpatient program

during fiscal years 2009–2013. The research focused on SVPs, the predictive value of combining the assessment tools and recidivism related to all the newly committed SVPs in the Texas program during fiscal years 2009-2013.

Limitations

This study suffered from several weaknesses. Texas is the only state that has civil commitment laws that has out-patient SVP supervision. Thus, the results of this study can be generalized to newly labeled SVPs in the Texas Outpatient Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program, but cannot be generalized to all newly labeled SVPs since the other states with civil commitment laws offer only institutional confinement to civilly commitment individuals. Second, regarding internal validity, the subjects in this study consisted of the total members of the newly labeled SVP in OSVPTP during 2009-2013 and were held to the standards established by Texas law (Texas Id. § 841.022). Due to the protection of the victim's rights and other legal issues, permission to use a more current year would have been difficult to obtain. Despite these limitations, it was expected that the results could increase understanding about the assessment tools' utility in the SVP population of the Texas Outpatient program.

Limitations of the Study

The present study used an archival data sample of newly labeled SVPs who were committed to the OSVPTP. Another limitation of this study was that the MnSOST-R was designed to assess offenders who committed sexual offenses other than incest. Newly labeled SVPs were not assessed with this tool if their victim was a child, sibling, parent, or grandchild and/or the SVP may not have scores on the Static-99 or PCL-R if the

assessment scored as inconclusive resulting from no obtainable scores. Consequently, scores on measures were not available on all participants.

Implications for Social Change

This research has the potential to increase awareness of sexually violent offenses, that plagues American society because of continued recidivation. Increased awareness could assist or debate the efforts and high budget requirements associated with the confinement and supervision alternative that makes Texas unique in the treatment of newly labeled SVPs. This study sought to provide scientific evidence base for the continued supervision and use of three assessment tools (Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R) within the newly labeled SVP population in the OSVPTP.

Summary

The late 1980s and 1990s were considered to be a legal failure of society to protect its women and children from sexual violence. Thus, it was argued that additional legal and treatment measures should be put place. The public outcry led to the adoption of several laws, including SVP civil commitment laws. The over 20 states that offer civil commitment laws stipulated continued administration and control over a small group of individuals who were considered to have both a mental health diagnosis and a behavioral abnormality that mades them unable to control their sexually violent urges. It was the violent urges that seemed to require both additional treatment and supervision after the completion of their sentence for previous offenses.

However, it was not until 1999 that the state of Texas enacted legal measures to develop the Texas Civil Commitment Program, a program that was also designed to be

outpatient. Texas drew on forensic psychological practice to use three assessment tools in determining both mental health diagnosis and behavioral abnormality— the cornerstone of the SVP label. While there is sufficient data to support the assessment tools to label an individual as an SVP, there is still no supportive date to suggest that these assessment tools predict recidivism

The Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R have been proven to accurately identify individuals as SVPs, but there is still no supportive data about how the scores relate to each other within this population. The purpose of this study was threefold: (a) to examine how the Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL scores relate to each other; (b) to determine whether they predict recidivism; and (c) to determine the predictive value of combining the scores in labeled SVPs committed during 2009-2013 to the Texas Civil Commitment Program.

Chapter 2 provides a review of the current literature, an overview of the three assessment tools and background information on the legislation and goals of the Texas Civil Commitment Outpatient Program. Chapter 3 provides an overview of the participants, the data retrieval method, the research methods and procedures used to test the three variables (Static-99, MnSOST-R, PCL-R) as they relate to each other. The chapter also explores whether the measures predict recidivism and whether combining the scores adds to their predictive value in the Texas Civil Commitment Outpatient newly labeled SVP population. Chapter 4 provides the results of the study. Chapter 5 provides an interpretation and discussion of the findings and recommendations for future research.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The SVP civil commitment program has legislative support in more than 20 states (Harris et al., 2003; Jackson & Richards, 2007; McLawsen, Scalora, & Darrow, 2012; Rettenberger et al., 2009). However, the legality and effectiveness of this program continues to be debated. The recidivism of previously sentenced sexual offenders, prior to the adoption of these statutes, was the motivation to legalize civil commitment statutes. The civil commitment statutes have been the subject of several research studies that yielded contradictory results.

In conducting this review of the literature, I used three databases: PsycINFO, SocINDEX, and Dissertation Abstracts International. The keywords for this search were as follows: *Minnesota sex offender screening tool—revised, recidivism, civil commitment laws, Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R) and Static-99, sexually violent predator,* and *civil commitment*.

This chapter begins with a general discussion of SVP statutes, including a description of the legal justification and typical procedures. I then provide background on civil commitment practices, laws, and procedures specific to the OSVPTP used in Texas (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). Next, I review the literature on the use of Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R, the three common assessment tools in SVP programs.

Legal Justification for Sex Offender Laws

According to McLawsen, Scalora, and Darrow (2012), modern SVP laws have their roots in the "sexual psychopathy" laws of the 1940s. As with the modern laws, these laws identified certain types of sexual offenders to be eligible for civil commitment.

Sutherland (1950) noted that these sexual psychopathy statutes contained seven major points used in half of the states' current civil commitment statutes:

- (1) "sexual psychopathy," defined as individuals who are more likely to recommit sexually based offenses, thus making women and children unsafe in society,
- (2) these offenders are "degenerates" "sex fiends" "sexual psychopaths" and thus called sex killers that should not be free in American society,
- (3) the individual will continue this behavior due to lack of behavioral control, identified as "sexual impulses",
- (4) a society that punishes these offenders and then discharges this punishment without supervision demonstrated a failure in its duty to protect,
 - (6) laws are required to separate these individuals from society, and
- (7) that, for an individual to be released, evidence that the individual was cured must be demonstrated by a psychiatrist.

McLawsen, Scalora, & Darrow (2012) stated that current laws may vary from state to state; however, similarity between each state remains in the area of eligibility criteria. Most of the states that offer SVP civil commitment require that the individual must be convicted of at least one sexually violent offense, as defined by statute. In the State of Texa, sexually violent offenses can be divided into the following categories: 2.5% continuous sexual abuse against young child/children, 25.5% indecency with child by contact, 4.7% indecency with child by exposure, 44.8% sexual assault, 21.6% aggravated sexual assault, and 0.9% sexual assault performance by a child (Texas Crime Statistics, 2012). In addition to having committed a certain kind of offense, persons

subject to SVP civil commitment laws must have a mental abnormality or personality disorder, must have an increased propensity to re-offend, and the mental disorder or personality disorder must make the person unable to control impulses (McLawsen et al., 2012).

The alarming fact is that there are people in this society who have repeatedly committed violent and sexual acts against others. Therefore, these potential victims need protection and society must provide that protection. Modern SVP laws began as a reaction to specific tragic high-profile cases. For example, the case of Earl Shriner in the late 1980s has been noted to be the legal catalyst for many civil commitment laws (Mckinney, 2002). During Shriner's health facility sentence, he disclosed his detailed plans to kidnap, sexually assault, and torture a boy during one of his assessment interviews with his mental health care provider. Mr. Shriner's sentence ended and he was released without any legal measures in place to continue his treatment, sentence, or monitor him in order to remedy his preoccupation with kidnapping and murder. He did, in fact, commit the crime he had told his mental health provider he would. Shortly after release from the treatment facility, Earl Shriner kidnapped, attempted to murder, mutilate and violently sexually assault a 7-year-old-boy named Ryan Alan Hade ("The Seattle Times.", 1990). The public outcry regarding his released, considering his eloborate plan of preforming a horrendous danger to children, produced legislative responses.

A series of high-profile cases in the 1990s cemented the movement toward harsher laws towards sexual offenders. For example, Adam Walsh was a 7-year-old boy who was abducted from a mall in Florida and later murdered. His case received national

media attention. Later, Ottis Toole, a convicted serial killer, confessed to the crime, although he was never prosecuted. Toole was a repeat offender who had been previously convicted of sexually violent offenses and released (Aizenman & Kelley, 1988). This crime led to the passage of a federal statute, called the Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act (42 U.S.C. §16911 et seq.), mandating sex offender registration, GPS monitoring and commitment for different levels of offenders (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010).

Today, 20 states in the United Sates have SVP civil commitment laws, with even more having registration and community notification laws. Despite the prevalence of SVP laws, they are not without criticism. They have been challenged legally, largely as a violation of the double jeopardy clause of the Constitution. The argument that defendants utilize suggests these laws serve as two forms of punishment—first through incarceration, followed by commitment in a mental health facility. However, the United States Supreme Court has rejected this argument (Kansas v. Hendricks, 1997), thus allowing civil commitment statutes to remain.

Empirically, these statutes have been criticized because they do not serve their intended goals. Boccaccini, Murrie, Caperton & Hawes (2009) noted that an effective SVP law would allow states to both identify SVP offenders to mandate treatment and civilly commit as a protective measure for potential victims. However, the authors argued that the research on the effectiveness of these programs continues to produce contradictory results. For example, most of the released sex offenders have not been provided enough rehabilitation that will help them control their impulses and prevent

future sex offenses. Secondly, the law enforcement agents assigned to undertake this task are not technologically equipped to track down sex offenders. Losing track of those offenders who are supposed to register with the state and other local levels within the state jurisdiction demonstrates a reduction in public safety. The judicial failure to support agencies in charge of this population reduces the effectiveness of civil commitment programs. This study evaluated one critical piece of evidence of their effectiveness—do the assessment tools being used to determine release accurately predict recidivism?

SVP Civil Commitment Laws in Practice

While SVP civil commitment is a legal decision, the decision is based on the information provided by a psychologist or psychiatrist who conducts a forensic assessment of the individual. The state of Texas requires the use of three assessment instruments: Static-99, Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised and Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tools-Revised for an individual to be labeled as a SVP (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). The Static-99 is an assessment tool that is used to detect sex offender risk by reviewing offender records for information on offense characteristics and recidivism risk. The Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised is an assessment tool that attempts to evaluate criminal offenders' risk of sexual violence. The Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tools-Revised is an assessment tool that evaluates sexual offense risk in individuals who committed offenses other than incest. The assessment tools are intended to identify offenders that have behavioral abnormalities considered to making the offender both unable to control impulses and more likely to re-offend.

The assessment tools mentioned above are used not only used to inform whether a defendant is labeled a sexually violent predator, but they also determine the treatment needs of that individual and inform the decision to release the offender from commitment. These psychological assessment tools are said to offer both legal and psychiatric support of the individual's likely level of reoffending, but to date there is limited research available regarding the effectiveness of these programs or empirical data to support the accuracy of this perceived risk. The purpose of this study was to evaluate whether scores on these instruments are predictive of subsequent sex offender recidivism.

Once the court determines that a person is to be committed to the Outpatient Sexual Violent Predator Treatment Program (OSVPTP), the court order stipulates that the individual reside in a state supported halfway house, and prohibits the SVP from contacting the victim or potential victims, and possession or use of alcohol, inhalants, or other controlled substances. In addition, the SVP must comply with electronic monitoring, sex offender registration monthly, and if the SVP has had child victims, the establishment of prohibited child safety zone compliance. Overall, the SVPs are required to notify the case manager of any events or changes within 24 hours, including in the person's health or job status (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). Treatment at the facilities uses a team approach. Each person has a primary treatment provider, but there is also a case manager or supervising officer who checks in monthly to monitor treatment progress.

In Texas, eligibility criteria and release are governed by the Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators Act (1999). Texas is unique in that it offers a supervised

outpatient program based on state-funded halfway houses (aka, OSVPTP). OSVPTP is outpatient treatment for those who have been labeled SVPs by a judge or jury (TDCJ policy PD/POP-3.6.11). The justification of this program is primarily its cost-effectiveness. Texas policy stipulates that the offenders are only required to supplement a small portion of the expense, and that is if the offender can pay (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010).

Other states' civil commitment programs are extremely expensive. For example, California has the most civilly committed sex offenders of 443, and has an overall budget of \$147.3 million for the SVP population (Davey & Goodnough, 2007). Other states have estimated \$80,000 to \$125,000 for inpatient SVP treatment services. Because Texas uses an outpatient model (described below), the state spends considerably less money: \$30,000 to \$37,000. This may appear minimal in comparison to other states; however, true estimates of expense should factor in other legal costs. For example, the state of Texas contends that the cost of one single trial related to the case of child sexual abuse conducted between the 1980s and 1990s ranged from \$138,000 to \$200,000.

In addition, offenders continue in these expensive programs for many years and, even when released, many end up re-incarcerated. Out of the 20 states that have civil commitment laws and more that 1500 civil commitment offenders, only 252 offenders have been discharged successfully since the 1990 inception of the program (Davey & Goodnough, 2007). Therefore, the number of offenders and the cost of their confinement and treatment is worthy of concern, especially if these programs do not serve their treatment goals.

The Recidivism Assumption about Sexually Violent Individuals

SVP commitment laws are founded on the principle that certain kinds of sex offenders, labeled SVPs, are likely to recidivate if released into the public. Therefore, committing these individuals serves the goal of promoting public safety. There is abundant research on recidivism in criminal populations. However, there is little research available on recidivism within the SVP population. Hanson and colleagues (Hanson & Bussiere, 1998; Hanson & Thornton, 2000) have suggested that, on average, sexual recidivism rates for untreated general sex offenders are approximately 15% after 5 years and 20% after 10 years. Schneider et al. (2006) discuss that the differences in recidivism rates may be attributable to changes in the definition of recidivism rates in individual studies, variations of methodological definitions and treatment differences. Also, much of this research follows general sex offenders, and the law and differential psychological diagnosis suggest that the SVP is unable to control behavioral impulses, which means they should have higher rates of recidivism, by definition.

Several studies have suggested that the population, SVP, within other states, such as California, demonstrates a higher recidivism risk and should be continued and supported as a prision commitment. An example of this, McLawsen, Scalora, & Darrow (2012) examined exhibited risk levels of SVPs in Washington, Florida, and Wisconsin. This study of three states' SVP populations, concluded that civilly committed sex offenders demonstrated significantly high levels of risk and thus would not succeed in attempts to prevent recidivism if unsupervised or treated by the resources of the general community. This result suggests that the civil commitment programs for sexually violent

individuals in these three states operates effectively within the guidelines of the program being based on risk assessment. McLawsen, Scalora, and Darrow did suggest that in Nebraska the risk is somewhat lower in regard to the civilly committed sex offenders and questioned the need for such a strict commitment within that geographic location.

In a study conducted in Texas, Boccaccini et al (2010) suggested that not using limited definition of recidivism and the violation of the sex registry where indicators of desire to find additional victims. Later, Boccaccini et al. (2013) discovered that of 76 sex offenders evaluated and civilly committed as violent predators, the scores on the borderline feature scale and negative relationships scale were also reliable predictors of recidivism. The significance of these research studies continued to be debated and used during the legal procedures of the civil commitment program. Overall, these two studies support the need for additional empirical research in this area to prevent risk to the women and children of society.

Measures Required for Individuals Committed to the OSVPTP Static-99

The Static-99 (Hanson & Thornton, 1999) is an actuarial instrument designed to estimate the long-term probability of sexual and violent recidivism among adult male sexual offenders (Yates & Kingston, 2006). Specifically, the Static-99 is composed of ten items designed to measure the level of sexually deviant behavior, specific characteristics of previous victims, persistence of sexual offending, and presence of emotional and antisocial personality disorders. The measure produces a score that ranges from 0 to 12 and results in four risk categories: *low* (0-1), *medium-low* (2-3), *medium-high* (4-5), and

high (6-12). The higher the Static-99 scores, the higher the risk for sexual re-offense (Hanson & Torton, 2000). Yates and Kingston (2006) contended that the Static-99 has consistently demonstrated high reliability and validity in several studies.

Hanson and Thornton (2000) concluded that the Static-99 is the most commonly used actuarial risk tool for estimating sexual offender recidivism risk. Further studies indicate that the Static-99 is effective in the prediction of sexually violent offending and recidivism for extra-familial child molesters (Allan et al., 2006; Bartosh et al., 2003; Beaureguard & Mieczkowski, 2009; Cox & Holmes, 2009; Craig et al., 2007; Doren, 2004; Endrass et al., 2009; Kingston et al., 2008).

Notwithstanding its common usage, there is little research available evaluating the use of the Static-99 among SVPs. Boccaccini et al. further suggested that the Static-99 outperforms the MnSOST-R but may still perform poorer than previously expected within the SVP population. DeClue & Zavodny (2014) continue to argue that there is no significant research available that the Static-99 accurately predicts an individual's risk of sexual recidivism. Rice et al. (2014) argued that the higher the Static-99 score, the lower the predictive agreement suggesting that only 40% of individuals with a score of 6 during the initial assessment will recidivate, while 60% will recidivate with initial scores of 2 or lower. Furthermore, they suggest that considering that individuals with higher scores are more subject to civil commitment for sexual violent offenders, the legal and mental health community should have procedural safe guards to account for these possible measurement errors (Rice et al., 2014).

Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R)

The PCL-R is a 20-item scale used in forensic and clinical settings to give an indication of the individual's level of psychopathy. The measure involves a semi-structured interview and use of file information. In the PCL-R, Hare (1990) defines psychopathy according to two broad factors: (a) refers to the selfish, callous and remorseless use of others to reflect their interpersonal and affective characteristics, and (b) refers to a chronically unstable, antisocial and socially deviant lifestyle. The higher the total PCL-R score, the more the results reflect that the individual displays prototypical behaviors of a psychopath. The PCL-R Factor 1 (interpersonal-affective [IA]) scale evaluates excessive use of superficial charm, a deceitful interpersonal style, a lack of empathy, and shallow affect (Hare, 2003). The PCL-R Factor 2 ("Social Deviance" [SD]) scale is characterized by general impulsivity, irresponsibility, and past criminal and antisocial behavior (Hare, 2003). Although it references behavior, Factor 2 also captures the general trait of disinhibition or impulsivity and negative affectivity; this is a trait that most would not regard as specific to psychopathy (Patrick, Fowles, & Krueger, 2009).

The PCL-R's utility measurement of past antisocial behavior and disinhibition of interpersonal and affective traits of psychopathy as predictors of behavioral abnormality (Skeem, Miller, Mulvey, Tiemann, & Monahan, 2005; Skeem & Mulvey, 2001). PCL-R in actual usage performs lower than the testing manual reports (Boccaccini et al., 2012: Miller et al., 2012; Murrie et al., 2012). Boccaccini et al. argued that predictive accuracy was low. Miller et al. determined a low accuracy rate, further supporting the idea that the tools have a lower ability to predict recidivism within the sexual offender population.

Researcher suggested that this assessment tool has contradictorily implications considering the fact that the tool was originally developed and used in nonsexual violent crimes, namely socially deviant behaviors (Boccaccini et al., 2013; De Matteo et al., 2014; Edens et al., 2014; Kinghton et al., 2014). This suggestion further supports the need for exploring the relationship between the tools and the SVP population.

Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tools-Revised (MnSOST-R)

The MnSOST-R is a 16-item actuarial assessment tool designed to predict sexual recidivism among offenders that have committed sexual offenses other than incest (Epperson et al., 1998). Twelve of the MnSOST-R items assess historical or static predictors of recidivism, such the number of sex offenses, offending in a public place, and use of force or threat of the offense (Epperson et al., 1998). Four items assess institutional or dynamic predictors, such as receiving treatment while incarcerated and age at release. Item scores are weighted based on their empirical association with recidivism (Vrieze & Grove, 2008). Scores on the MnSOST-R can range from 1 to 31. Epperson et al. (2003) suggested scores of 3 and below as indicating a low-risk level (12% recidivism likelihood within 6 years), scores from 4 to seven as indicating a moderate risk level (25% recidivism likelihood), and scores of 8 or above as indicating a high-risk level (57% recidivism likelihood).

Compared with the Static-99, the MnSOST-R has fewer cross-validation studies and more critiques (Boccaccini et al., 2009; Vrieze & Grove, 2008; Wollert, 2002; 2003). Boccaccini et al. (2009) argued that there was a significant difference in the MnSOST-R

actuarial assessment scores of generally violent offenders not identified as SVPs than individuals identified as SVPs conducted as part of the Texas civil commitment program

Summary

During the late 1980s and 1990s several repeat offenders were found to continue to place the nation's women and children at risk. This horrific reality caused the media to pressure several local and federal government agencies to aid in the introduction of the reenactment of the "sexual psychopath" laws of the 1940s. Expanding the 1940s laws required the use of several points as civil commitment statutes, which remain in place today. The first case to gain media attention regarding the use of the civil commitment laws was Earl Shriner. Shriner was identified as a perpetrator based on his repeated disclosure of plans to mutilate, sexually assault, kidnap, and murder a child during his court ordered treatment for another crime. Once released he did commit the crime he had detailed to his mental health profession, thus making him one of the first to be committed under the civil commitment program.

Twenty-one states in the United States that have SVP civil commitment laws. SVPs are individuals previously convicted of multiple sexually violent offenses and are presumed to be more prone than general sex offenders to recommitting additional offenses. Texas did not adopt the civil commitment law until 1999, however; Texas remains the only state that offers an outpatient civil commitment program. The Texas civil commitment program offers the individual otherwise labeled as SVP to live in state funded half-ways houses under the supervision of the multifaceted program offering treatment, registration, GPS monitoring, and continuous supervision.

The state of Texas currently uses three actuarial measures to identify and evaluate SVPs: The Static-99, the PCL-R, and the MnSOST. This quantitative study was to investigate whether and how strongly these three measures predict recidivism for SVPs released from the Texas outpatient SVP civil commitment program. This study added to the research available on the predictive validity of the Static-99, PCL-R and MnSOST assessment tool.

Considering the protective nature and importance of reducing recidivism in SVPs, it was very surprising not to find any research on the effectiveness of the Texas recidivism program. As described earlier, the outpatient model was adopted primarily for fiscal reasons. This study has helped inform that decision by providing some data about the recidivism rates associated with the program. Predicting recidivism amoung sexually violent individuals is an important and protective act that governments have undertaken with the creation of SVP commitment laws. This undertaking requires research to measure its effectiveness and accuracy. Without accuracy in the measures the laws that serve as protection are not protective at all. As described earlier, many psychologists are critical that these laws and the measures used in practice are not effective. It is expected that tis studt will help inform this debate at the local and federal levels.

Chapter 3 describes the research method.

Chapter 3: Research Method

During the 1980s and early 1990s, the high number of sexually based offenses committed in the United States by individuals who had previous convictions for similar types of crimes constituted a failure on the part of the country to protect the women and children. However, it was not until 1999 that the state of Texas joined the other 21 states in legislatively enacting the Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators Act (76th Leg., R.S., ch. 1188 Code § 4.01.199 Tex. Gen. Laws 4143). This act stipulated that within the general population there is a small but dangerous group of offenders, who, due to a mental health diagnosis and a behavioral abnormality were unable to control their sexually violent actions. The state of Texas, having evaluated the economic cost of such an act, decided to provide an outpatient program to supervise these individuals. Texas adopted the use of the Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R assessment tools for two reasons: to identify individuals in court proceedings as likely to recidivate and to inform any decision to release an offender.

According to the literature review, there is limited empirical knowledge about recidivism among SVPs. In addition, the methodology literature revealed that there is limited research on the effectiveness of actuarial assessment tools to predict recidivism among SVPs. The actuarial assessment tools (Static-99, MnSOST-R and PCL-R) for SVPs are without adequate data to support their predictive validity. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine how the scores on these tools related to each other and whether they could predict recidivism in the SVP population in the Texas civil commitment program.

This chapter describes the study's research question and the research methodology used to address it. Bivariate linear regression was used to evaluate how the Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R scores related to each other and to determine whether these relationships could predict recidivism within the SVP population in the Texas Civil Commitment Program.

Research Design and Rationale

This study used the archival data related to the assessment scores of everyone labeled as a SVP during the 2009-2013 commitment period. Specifically, scores on the Static-99, Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R), and Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tool-Revised (MnSOST-R) will be collected. These scores were evaluated to determine if there is a predictive value in combing the scores to determine recidivism and if these scores predict recidivism in this population. In other words, the independent variables in this study are Static-99, Psychopathy Checklist-Revised, and Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tool-Revised scores. These are court ordered assessment tools that are provided to all SVPs in the civil commitment program. The dependent variable in this study will be recidivism of SVPs in the Texas Outpatient Civil Commitment Program. For this study, sexually violent behavior was evaluated as SVPs are said to be more likely to recidivate and too often this recidivism is once again a sexually based offense.

Thus, the data in this study was not be collected by the researcher, but received from the state of Texas. The scores used to predict the relationship, if any exists, between the tools' scores and recidivism and/or if a relationship exists between the tools. While the state of Texas accepts that these assessment tools are accurate in labeling the

individual as a SVP, the empirical question of whether assessment tools (Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL-R) truly predict recidivism in this population have not been answered.

Method

Population and Sampling Procedures

This study is confined to a file review based upon a convenience sample of 205 male adults labeled as SVPs and court ordered to be confined to the Texas Civil Commitment Outpatient Program during 2009-2013 fiscal years. Of the 205 SVPs committed during the fiscal year, 32.35% were African American, 47.06% were European American, 17.65% Hispanic, and 2.94% Native American. This study addressed all the labeled and confined offenders in the program during this period. The researcher will not have any contact with participants. The data compiled and supplied to the researcher through the state open record system without any personal identifying data on either the predator or his victims. In addition, the assessments are done as part of the program and each participant was required to complete the testing by court order.

LeBlanc and Fitzgerald (2000) stated that when logistic regression is used, sample sizes, n>30 for each predictor variable, are required to achieve sufficient statistical power. Hence 90 participants were randomly selected form the data provided by the Texas Open Record System. This random selection allowed this researcher to adequately represent SVPs fairly during the 2009-2013 fiscal year of commitment.

Dataset

This study used existing data provided by the Texas Department of Open Records. The Open Record System allows anyone to receive data provided that the information requested does not violate the individual's right to privacy or violate the principle of the law that was used to obtain the requested data. This researcher has requested the total scores for Static-99, MnSOST-R, PCL-R, and the number of months before additional violations if any, as defined by Texas Civil Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators Program as reason to violate commitment program, sex and gender for all SVPs within the program during the fiscal years 2009-2013. The request for data, once submitted, was sent to the legal professional handling the Civil Commitment Program (Texas Id. § 841.022). The lawyer reviews the request and identifies what information can be provided and the reason for the request of information. Once the legal requirements are met and satisfied, the data processing professionals are told to release the information the lawyer has identified as acceptable to the requested parties (Texas Id. § 841.022). The client profile database contains information specific to SVP in the civil commitment program such as date of commitment, date of additional offenses, and actuarial assessment scores (Texas Id. § 841.022). This data source is the most comprehensive and accurate source of information compiled on each individual SVP and thus is the only system available for this research. The researcher was not allowed to directly access the data as some personal information and victim information is not coded to protect the privacy of the individual.

Instrumentation

Three instruments were selected for use in this study since the State of Texas orders that each SVP complete the testing series as part of the program. The Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R are court-ordered actuarial assessment tools that are given to all SVPs in the civil commitment program.

The Static-99 (Hanson & Thornton, 1999) is composed of 10 items designed to measure the level of sexually deviant behavior, specific characteristics of previous victims, persistence of sexual offending, and emotional and/or antisocial personality disorders. The measure produces a score that ranges from 0 to 12 and results in four risk categories: *low* (0-1), *medium-low* (2-3), *medium-high* (4-5), and *high* (6-12). The higher the Static-99 scores; the higher the risk that sexual re-offending may occur (Hanson & Torton, 2000).

The Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R) is a 20-item scale used in forensic and clinical settings to give an indication of the level of psychopathy an individual present (Hare, 1990). The measure involves a semi-structured interview and the use of file information. In the PCL-R, Hare (1990) defined psychopathy according to two broad factors: (a) refers to the selfish, callous and remorseless use of others to reflect their interpersonal and affective characteristics and (b) chronically unstable, antisocial and socially deviant lifestyles. The higher the total PCL-R score, the more the results reflect the individual prototypical behavior as psychopath.

The Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tool—Revised (MnSOST-R) is a 16-item actuarial assessment tool designed to predict sexual recidivism among offenders that have committed sexual offenses other than incest (Epperson et al., 1998). Twelve of the MnSOST-R items assess historical or static predictors of recidivism, such as the number of sex offenses, offending in public places, and the use of force or threat of the offense (Epperson et al., 1998). Four items assess intuitional or dynamic predictors, such as receiving treatment while incarcerated and age of release. Items scores are weights that vary from item to item. Scores on the MnSOST-R can range from 1 to 31. Epperson et al. (2003) suggested scores of 3 and below as indicating a low-risk level (12% recidivism likelihood within six years), scores from 4 to 7 as indicating a moderate risk level (25% recidivism likelihood), and scores of 8 or above as indicating a high-risk level (57% recidivism likelihood).

The dependent variable was recidivism. The institutional review board (IRB) number for this study was 01-18-17-0119704. This research will be provided with whether any of the newly committed SVPs committed recidivism during the fiscal year from the open record system but not the actual incident, due to privacy issues related to the SVP. In this study, recidivism will be defined as no additional sexual offenses committed by the SVP within a one-year fiscal period. The definition of the one-year period is limited to the one fiscal year (2009-2010), which is the year that the SVP was confined into the Texas Civil Commitment Program. For this study, additional offenses are those that involve the intent to arouse or gratify the sexual desire of any person

immediately before, during, or immediately after the attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation to violate or abuse another individual (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010).

Threats to Validity

The assessment tools were conducted by Texas licensed professional and thus the accuracy of each score cannot be assured beyond the fact that the individuals conducting the examinations were licensed professionals at the time of examination. For example, the data collected from the SVP's prison confinement are not part of the open record system and the Static-99 depends on this data. The researcher has no way to verify these portions of the data, and must assume that the licensed professional was accurate. The Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tool–Revised (MnSOST-R), as previously stated, is conducted on individuals who have not committed incest. Therefore, if an SVP has committed such an offense then the individual will not be provided with this testing tool and, thus, that individual will not have a score for that variable.

The State of Texas is the only state that offers outpatient civil commitment program. According to the State of Texas the reason for the outpatient program is due to the expense of this program and the need to provide society with protection from this small but dangerous population. Considering the outpatient aspect of Texas civil commitment program, the conclusions devised from this examination, while demonstrating internal validity for the outpatient program in the State of Texas, do not have external validity across all the civil commitment programs within the United States.

Ethical Considerations

All the information on the given SVP was combined by TDCJ staff into a computerized database. Entries were stripped of identifying information after each adult participant is assigned a unique participant number that is keyed to identifying information on a list maintained by TDCJ staff. Only the blind-coded data files will be released to this researcher. However, sex offender registration information can be accessed by using the public access of the Texas Department of Public Safety website. The data set received anonymous with regards to the individual SVP, thus the issue of confidentiality and the storage of such data will not apply. Once the analysis is completed the information will remain with this researcher and thus analysis only will be available by anyone with access to this dissertation. This researcher has no conflict of interest as I don't have any direct or indirect contact with either the licensed professionals who conduct the tests, the individual SVPs, the State of Texas employees, or the legal team working with this population.

Data Analysis Plan

Once the researcher received the data, the only limitation in the data file will be if the offender(s) where convicted of incest as one of the tools cannot be used if that is the case. These offender (s) did not have a data set for the MnSOST-R. The data requested is the total score for each assessment and this researcher will not have to calculate the final score as it will be provided.

This study evaluated the following research questions and their corresponding hypotheses:

1. Does the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores increase predictive value of recidivism in SVPs?

Within this question, the predictor variables are Static-99 (X1), PCL-R (X2), and MnSOST-R (X3), to predict if one criterion variable, has more predictive value than combining the scores (Y). The equation regarding this is;

Y (relationship) =B1(X1) + B2(X2) +B3(X3) + Constant.

This researcher plans to evaluate the center or the "central tendency" of the relationship between the scores to evaluate the predictive value of combing the scores to predict recidivism within the SVP population.

2. Are there differences among PCL-R, Static-99, and MnSOST-R in accurately predicting recidivism in SVPs?

Within this study, the predictor variables are Static-99 (X1), PCL-R (X2), and MnSOST-R (X3), to predict one criterion variable, recidivism (Y). Since the criterion is a binary variable, the research will use binary logistic regression to conduct this analysis. This analysis evaluates ability of each assessment measure to independently predict recidivism, controlling for the influence of the other scores.

Summary

The purpose of this research was to investigate the Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R on how the scores relate to each other and their accuracy of prediction of recidivism and if combining the scores add to the predictive value in newly labeled SVPs during the 2009-2013 fiscal years in the Texas Civil Commitment Program. The participants are derived from a convenience sample of 205 adult SVPs in the Texas Civil

Commitment Program. Participants were assessed for commitment in the program and given the Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R. The researcher will evaluate the 205 adults labeled as SVP and court ordered into the Texas Outpatient Civil Commitment Program during the 2009-2013 fiscal years. The evaluation targeted the all the offenders in the program for this fiscal period. The three assessment tools (Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R) are court ordered to be completed and thus performed by licensed professionals.

The State of Texas suggests that the assessment tools provided the needed mental diagnosis and additional criteria legally required to label an individual as sexually violent. This researcher used this court ordered data in the form of correlations and regression analysis, to explore how the scores relate to each other and whether they predict recidivism among the SVP population in the Texas Civil Commitment Program. Thus, allowed this researcher to make draw conclusions regarding the relationship between the Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R and the accuracy of these assessment tools in the prediction of recidivism within the newly labeled SVPs population in the Texas Outpatient Civil Commitment Program.

Chapter 4 presents the procedure used for coding, entering the data for analysis, and the results of the data analysis.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this quantitative study was to evaluate whether three actuarial assessment tools used to label sex offenders as SVPs could predict recidivism within the SVP population. Predicting recidivism within this small but dangerous group can be vital in preventing additional victims (some of whom have been murdered), and procuring future treatment for SVPs.

Two research questions were formulated to guide my study in exploring the effectiveness of the Static-99, MnSOST-R, and the PCL-R scores in predicting recidivism among the Texas SVPs who were court-ordered into supervision during fiscal years 2009-2013:

- RQ1. Does the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R increase predictive value of recidivism in SVPs?
 - H1₀: There is no increase in predictive value of recidivism with the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in SVPs.
 - H1a: There are increase in predictive value of recidivism with the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in SVPs.
- RQ2. Are there differences among PCL-R scores, Static-99, and MnSOST-R scores in the predictive value of recidivism in SVPs?
 - *H*2₀: There are no differences among PCL-R, Static-99, and MnSOST-R scores in predicting recidivism in SVPs.

H2a: There are differences among PCL-R, Static-99, and MnSOST-R scores in predicting recidivism in SVPs.**Data Collection**

The data, which were obtained from the State of Texas Open Record System, consisted of SVPs court-ordered to be supervised during the years 2009-2013 of the Texas Civil Commitment program. The data from the open record system was provided with no contact with the population nor the database; no identifying information was included with the data. The open record system replied to my request within 2 weeks with the total scores for each SVP in the system during the requested years of 2009-2013. Several SVPs had missing scores, reason provided was, "because there was not enough information or the actuarial assessment tool was not scored". As mentioned in Chapter 3, the MnSOST could not be conducted if the predator's victim was a family member. Therefore, some missing values were expected in this assessment. However, the PCL-R was also missing values, which was not expected. The data collection strategy was in line with that presented in Chapter 3.

The SVP population was all male. The population represented the total SVPs within the Texas Civil Commitment program during fiscal years 2009-2013. The demographic distribution was as follows: 28% African American, 52.15% European Americans, 18.66% Hispanic, and 0.48% Native American or Alaskan Native. The age range was 28-70 years with a mean of 53.91 (standard deviation of 9.36).

LeBlanc and Fitzgerald (2000) stated that when logistic regression is used, sample sizes n > 30 for each predictor variable are required to achieve sufficient statistical power. Therefore, 90 cases were needed for this study. With this assumption, the data

were edited to remove the cases with missing values, and then the first 90 participants were included in the analysis. Hence the 90 participants were randomly selected from the data given to me. Random selection was chosen to allow equal representation and thus, should represent the SVPs in Texas Civil Commitment.

Results

The total number of participants was 90 Texas SVPs. All the participants received and were scored on the PCL-R (mean = 21.68, SD = 6.58), Static-99 (mean = 4.86, SD = 1.54), and MnSOST-R (mean = 8.68, SD = 4.23) and the dependent variable was violations (mean = 1.59, SD = .49). Means and standard deviation for assessments and violation are presented in Table 1.

Table 1

Means and standard deviations for assessments and violations

	Max	Min	М	SD
PCL-R	5	36	21.68	6.58
Static-99	1	8	4.86	1.54
MnSOST-R	-5	17	8.68	4.23
Violations	1	2	1.59	.49

Violation was measured as any violation that appeared between the date of commitment until the date of requested date, which was January 19, 2017. Thus, the time period of SVP violation was different. For example, an SVP committed in 2009 had 8 years of violations, while SVPs commitment during the 2013 fiscal year had 4 years of violations. The total number of participants that had not violated was 37 (41.1%) and participants that violated was 53 (58.9%). Frequency and percentages of violations are presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Frequency and percentages of violations

	Frequency	Valid
		percent
Has not violated	37	41.1
Violated	53	58.9

To answer the research questions and hypotheses, a bivariate logistic regression was used to examine if combining the assessment scores predicted recidivism, and if the assessment scores have increased predictive value in the prediction of recidivism within the Texas Civil Commitment program. Statistical significance was determined with a significance level set at .05.

Prior to analysis, the assumptions of logistic regression were evaluated: dichotomous outcome variable and adequate sample size of 30 per predictors was required (LeBlanc & Fitzgerald, 2000). To conduct a logistic regression with three predictors, a minimum of 90 participants are required to achieve empirical validity. The assumption of adequate sample size was met. In addition, the outcome variable is dichotomous measure: violation (has violated vs. has not violated).

Research Question 1

The first research question was: Does the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R increase predictive value of recidivism in SVPs? It was hypothesized that there are increases in the predictive value of recidivism with the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in SVPs.

To answer this question, I conducted a binomial logistic regression. Logistic regression analysis results are presented in Table 3. The results were $x^2(1) = 7.99$, p<.05, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 11.5\%$, indicating the group of scores did statistically predict recidivism of SVP. This research evaluated the odds ratio for the total scores. The result was only marginally significant for PCL-R (p = .058 B = .07). Resulting in for everyone unit the odds of recidivism increase 7.7 % for PCL-R, if p had been < .05. The other variables, Static-99 scores and MnSOST-R scores, were not significant to the model.

Concluding, the alternative hypothesis was accepted. There is a significant increase in predictive value of recidivism with the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in SVPs.

Table 3

Logistic Regression Analysis If Combination of Scores Increases Predictive Value of Recidivism (N=90)

					95% C.I.	For Exp (B)
	В	Wald	P	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
PCL-R	.07	3.59	.058	1.07	.99	1.16
Static-99	13	.69	.40	.87	.63	1.19
MnSOST-R	.08	1.8	.16	1.0	.96	1.22

Research Question 2

The second research question was: Are there differences among PCL-R scores, Static-99 scores, and MnSOST-R scores in the predictive value of recidivism in SVPs? It was hypothesized that there are differences among PCL-R, Static-99, and MnSOST-R in the predictive value of recidivism in SVPs.

To answer this question, I conducted a binominal logistic regression, and the results are presented in Table 4. In summary, the results were $x^2(1) = 7.99$, p=.04, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 11.5\%$, indicating the group of scores did statistically predict differences among assessments predictive value of recidivism of SVP. The result was only marginally significant for PCL-R (p =.058 B = .07). However, neither the Static-99 scores or the MnSOST-R scores offered a significant contribution to the model. Concluding, the null hypothesis of the second question must be accepted. Although, PCL-R approached significance. There are no differences among PCL-R, Static-99, and MnSOST-R scores in predicting recidivism in SVPs.

Table 4

Logistic Regression Analysis If Differences
in Assessment Scores Factor in Predicting Recidivism (N= 90)

	В	S.E.	P	Wald
PCL-R	.07	.03	.05	3.59
Static-99	13	.16	.40	.69
MnSOST-R	.08	.06	.16	1.89

Summary

The goal of this study was to examine the three actuarial assessment tools used to identify multiple sex offenders as SVPs were also able to predict recidivism. The first question focused on whether the combination of the Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores offer an increased predictive value to the predictions of recidivism in SVPs. The results of the analysis showed the model was significant. As predictors, the PCL-R approach significance while, the other variable did not. Therefore, the alternative

hypothesis was accepted. There is a significant increase in predictive value of recidivism with the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in SVPs.

The second question examined whether there are no differences among the Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in the predicting recidivism in SVPs. Concluding, there is not a significant increase in predictive value of recidivism with the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R scores in SVPs. In the next chapter, the conclusions, implication of the results, as well as recommendations for future research and investigations.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

Within the last 20 years, a small but dangerous group of the population has been identified and labeled as SVPs. As with any new group, research is important to understand how to establish accurate membership the group and, in this case, how to provide treatment they need without added punitive measures. SVPs are more likely than other types of former criminals to recidivate (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010; Weiss & Bala, 2009.) The purpose of this quantitative study was to evaluate three assessment tools for their ability to predict recidivism and recidivism within the Texas SVP population.

Because the Texas SVPs are court-ordered to undergo psychological testing, I chose to examine (a) how well the labeling assessment tools, Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL-R, predict recidivism; and (b) whether their combination increases their predictive value within the Texas SVP population that was court-ordered into supervision during fiscal years 2009-2013. To answer these two research questions, I used bivariate, linear regression analysis. Together, the three tools significantly predicted recidivism, but individually, only PCL-R even approached significance in predicting recidivism. These findings and their implications are discussed in this chapter.

Interpretation of Findings

Final data analyses were conducted on 90 archival cases, as indicated by the power analysis (see Chapter 3). Two research questions were formulated to guide the study on the effectiveness of the assessment tools (Static-99, MnSOST-R, and PCL-R) in

predicting recidivism among the Texas SVPs who were court-order into supervision during fiscal years 2009-2013: (a) Does the combination of Static-99 scores, PCL-R scores, and MnSOST-R increase the predictive value of recidivism in SVPs? (b) Are there differences among PCL-R scores, Static-99, and MnSOST-R scores in their predictive value of recidivism among SVPs?

For RQ1, the results of the analysis showed that the model was significant. That is, the three scales together were significant predictors of recidivism among SVPs. For RQ2, the MnSOST-R and Static-99 did not significantly predict recidivism among SVPs. Nor did the PCL-R, but at p = 0.058, it approached significance.

The behavioral theory developed by Meehl suggested that empirical judgement that uses objective procedures or equations to obtain judgement is more reliable when assessing people (Grove & Meehl, 1996; Meehl, 1965; Peterson, 2006). Indeed, there is sufficient data to support the assessment tools' ability to accurately label an individual as a SVP (Boccaccini et al., 2010; McLawsen, Scalora, & Darrow, 2012; Neller & Petris, 2013). The results of this study extend Meehl's claim by demonstrating that empirical judgement is also accurate in predicting recidivism within the SVP population. For example, in both cases, a range of data needs to be brought together to help reach a yes/no conclusion.

These results provide evidence of the assessment tools' ability to correctly identify SVPs and reliably predict recidivism in this population. This further supporting the proposition that empirical judgement is reliable (Neller & Petris, 2013). Not to mention, the focus of the study to identify recidivism within the Texas SVP population

while using the court ordered testing tools has been sustained by the results of this study.

This provides evidence reinforced Texas' decision to use these tools with their SVPs.

The results of the PCL-R are worthy of note. While the PCL-R did not significantly predict recidivism, the PCL-R approached significance. In contradiction of Miller et al. (2005) low accuracy rate of the PCL-R, suggest lower ability to predict recidivism with the SVP population. Later research support the PCL-R's predictive accuracy was low within the SVP population (Boccaccini et al., 2010). It is possible that these studies' determinations of PCL-R's low accuracy rate may in part be contributed to the two factors of the PCL-R. Specifically, PCL-R Factor 1, identifies the emotional thus, referring to superficial emotion, manipulation, and pathological lying (Hare, 2003). While PCL-R Factor2, identifies the behavioral aspect such as disinhibition or impulsivity and negative affectivity (Patrick, Fowles, & Krueger, 2009). Factor 2 is most likely linked with the idea of "volitional impaired" (Skeem et al., 2005). Therefore, possibly, to investigate the predictive value of these factors separately, could find that Factor 2 ha a stronger predictive value than Factor 1.

Within the same indications, the Static-99 and the MnSOST-R are both actuarial assessment tools with support for labeling the offender, but not in the prediction of recidivism within the SVP population (Boccaccini et al., 2010). The results of this study determined that the Static-99 was not a significant as an individual predictor of recidivism. Specifically, the Static-99 measures sexually deviant behavior. It is possible that offenders in this study did not recidivate because of sexually deviant behavior.

Indeed, studies show that sex offenders are often reconvicted for offences which are not sexual in nature (McLawsen et al, 2012).

Building the same assumption, the MnSOST-R is an actuarial assessment tool designed to predict sexual recidivism among offenders that have not committed incest (Epperson et al., 1998). The results of this study revealed the MnSOST-R not significant as an individual predictor. Further supporting Boccaccini et al., (2009) argument that MnSOST-R is more accurate with prediction of recidivism among general sex offender not identified as an SVP. Overall, while the Static-99 and MnSOST-R are actuarial assessment tools with significant combined with the PCL-R, demonstrate the ability to predict recidivism within the Texas SVP population. As individual predictors of recidivism the Static-99 and MnSOST-R are not significant and this may be due to either the measure of the tools or the idea that the behavioral abnormality that makes the SVP unable to control the urges is not measured as part of the tools assessment (Texas Id. § 841.021).

Limitations of the Study

The first major limitation to my study are the lack of generalizability towards all SVPs across the nation, as Texas is the only state with an outpatient civil commitment program. Texas law established a civil commitment program that is treatment based without punitive measures. In Texas, the sexually violent predator's ability to be supervised while living within general society within halfway houses and not prison or mental facilities remains an example of the lack of punitive treatment for SVPs (Texas Id. § 841.021). An example of the differences within the SVP population in the nation,

McLawsen et.al., (2012) examined exhibited risk levels of SVPs in Washington, Florida, and Wisconsin their research suggested that the increased risk would not allow the SVP in these populations to successfully receive treatment and other resources within the general community.

The lack of community support program or the opportunity to live within the community without additional risk to the society is one of major reasons this study cannot generalized. McLawsen et. al. (2012) did suggest that SVP in Nebraska demonstrated somewhat lower risk and would not need such strict commitment within that geographic location. Although Nebraska does not have an out-patient SVP program, the in-patient program is based on actuarial assessment tools, Static-99, MnSOST-R, and Violence Risk Appraisal Guide. Furthermore, McLawsen et al., (2012), state that within in geography location with lower risk out-patient program would benefit the SVP, this statement could be used to add support for the State of Texas out-patient SVP program.

This research must accept that the results might have been influenced by the professionals conducting the actuarial assessments. Because the data were archival there is no way of knowing the inter-rater reliability and if the professional conducting the assessment was scored with all detailed information available for accurate assessment. However, the issue of fundamental accurate assessment remains in debate due to the limited research available on SVP assessments (Boccaccini et. al., 2009).

One final limitation of this study was that the length of time for measuring recidivism was not equal to all Texas SVPs whose data were used. The measure of recidivism was based on the time between the SVP court-ordered into supervision and the

date this research requested the data on January 19, 2017. Therefore, SVP from 2009 had longer measures of recidivism than SVP court-order into supervision 2013. This limitation would suggest that the replication of this study should explore survival time.

Recommendations

Replicating this study is necessary because the results for the bivariate logistic regression demonstrated the PCL-R approached significance as an individual predictor for recidivism. This research suggests that since the PCL-R contains factors and the factors measure different elements, separating the factor scores may provide additional insight into SVP recidivism. With that in mind, Factor 2 of the PCL-R evaluates behavioral elements (Hare, 2003) which, may provide evaluation of the SVP behavioral abnormality that could open the door to better treatment. Overall, the State of Texas program is based on the idea that the SVP has a behavioral abnormality that makes the offender more likely to reoffend. Therefore, the idea of gathering better understanding of this based on the clear exploration of both PCL-R factors can provide the SVP with treatment and added support to gain removal from the program while protecting the women, children, and men of Texas society.

This study examined recidivism. It would be helpful for future studies to evaluate survival time. Survival time is defined as the time within the program before the SVP receives a violation whether it is of the sexual in nature or not (Texas Id. § 841.022). Survival time may have a further address the significance of the predictors to both label and to predict recidivism. Evaluating survival time may provide time periods in which the SVP is more prone to recidivate thus without violation during this period the likelihood to

recidivate will decrease. This prediction may allow for intense treatment during this period to further increase the prevention method required to supervise the SVP. Overall, replication with survival time has the potential to develop advance treatment interventions and predictors for recidivism which may serve as added protection to the citizens of Texas.

Implications

In the archival data during the 2009-2013 fiscal year, Texas had 58.9% violations within the SVP population of the civil commitment program. With more intense interventions and targeted programs for SVPs, Texas society can prevent additional victims that may lead to the loss of life and livelihood of Texas citizens, not to mention the added cost of legal interventions and in-patient prison programs. With that assumption, the measure of violations has offered Texas citizens protection but protection without targeted intervention is not true protection. The depth of the is due to the reaction to possible positive social change new intervention targeted programs can offer. Furthermore, the impact of positive and focused treatment can offer to the SVP during their struggle to remain offense free.

The knowledge gained from this study could be used by the State of Texas in designing treatment measures, community resources, and targeted supervision for the SVP. More specifically, treatment professionals could use the idea that recidivism may have more significant correlation to psychopathy than sexual deviance. The development of treatment measures specifically targeted towards psychopathy may assist the SVP in maintaining offense free and prevent new victims. While Texas law makers develop

intensive supervision and community resources to assist the SVP with methods to increase awareness of triggers and thus providing much needed prevention to reduce the violations of SVP. Therefore, gaining the support of society whom may not be aware of this program and now has a view of the State of Texas in more advance in its ability to provide protection, treatment, and community support.

The results of this study indicated that the three actuarial assessment tools, in combination, can predict recidivism within the Texas SVP population. This result can offer support for the continued use of the three actuarial assessment tools and support for added measures to provide community support for use of objective procedures or equations to obtain judgements. According to Neller & Petris (2013), accuracy of prediction of behavior based on empirical information removes the possibility for biased judgement. The results support Meehl's position that empirical predictors of abnormal behaviors are often more accurate (1965). The increased support for actuarial assessment tools can open the opportunity for the use of other actuarial assessment tools to increase the understanding and provide additional treatment measures for the Texas SVP population. The foundation of Texas law stipulates that SVP have both mental health diagnosis and behavioral abnormalities that produce violent urges (Texas Id. § 841.022). Therefore, it is these violent urges that may need both added actuarial assessment tools and intensive treatment that may be better identified based on empirical judgement.

Furthermore, the results of this study support the need to maintain and develop strong competency for the professionals conducting the actuarial assessment tools.

Considering that the professional conducting these assessment tools are required to only

work within their area of competency, this remains an area in which the State of Texas can provide the providers with added support and assistance with both maintain the competency and current testing methods. This added measure of support to the providers will assist in the increased accurate predictions and preventing recidivism for both the SVP and those individuals not found to meet the SVP criteria. Not to mention, the reduction of professional burnout often associated with limited resources and support.

Finally, the demand for the SVP program to have strong multidisciplinary support to assist in the label of SVP (Council on Sex Offender Treatment, 2010). According to Texas law the SVP has violent urges that require added supervision (Texas Id. § 841.022). Texas has a history of working with strong multidisciplinary teams to maintain Texas law and thus can use this structure to make the SVP treatment program as accurate as the labeling program. To adequately supervise an SVP the law makers, case workers, therapist, legal team, and criminal division must work very closely to assure that the unique behavioral abnormalities are being targeted. This requires the support of the testing professionals and the therapeutic providers to work together to develop treatment plans and other intervention strategies for the protection of the society. This also requires the case worker, legal administration and law makers to seek the support, advise, and current interventions to continue to maintain the State of Texas program as both nonpunitive and treatment based. Overall, the more supportive and diverse multidisciplinary support board will offer input with both the prediction and reduction of recidivism through empirical based judgement and not clinical based judgement to help in the reduction of biases and or additional victims.

The positive social change that can develop from this study is multifaceted. From the SVP perspective, the assessment tools that label can also predict recidivism. This allows for increased support of behavioral techniques to assist the SVP to remain offense free. An example of this is the evaluation of psychopathology verses deviance in the development of treatment measures, supervision plans, and targeted community resources. From Texas society perceptive, support of the assessment measure that address targeted ability to predict both the label and recidivism allows new and deviations in the budget planning. Therefore, target interventions can accurately move resources to professional assessment education and allow these professionals to more accurately advise the development of target specific programs and supervision.

In addition, providing assessment professionals with added support and education to conduct assessments reliably, would indirectly prevent additional recidivism. For example, Texas taxpayers support law enforcement, court systems, and victim assistance programs. If Texas has reduced recidivism the need for tax dollar budgeted towards these programs may be decreased or transferred to assessment policy, testing education, multidisciplinary planning for interventions, and community resources. These target interventions within the SVP population have the potential to maintain lower SVP recidivism rates thus lower victim rates. Allowing Texas to offer a prevention program that has research proven support of the protection laws developed to protect the men, women, and children of Texas society without added punitive measures for the sexually violent predator.

Conclusion

Public outcry for protection has led to the evaluation and legal remedies to confine and treatment intervention for a small but sexually violent members of society. For a nation to suggest that justice and equality are the foundation of society and then allow individuals whom are not safe to the members does both a disservice and assist in the creation of generations of victims. Several states including Texas has understood this issue and developed laws and policy to assist in the prevent of addition crimes and victims (Texas Id. § 841.021). The admission that Texas has 58.9% recidivism is an acknowledgement of the practitioner's ability to label the offenders as SVP.

The purpose of this study was to determine if the Static-99 scores, MnSOST-R scores, PCL-R scores increase predictive value of recidivism in SVP and if there are difference between the Static-99 scores, MnSOST-R scores, and PCL-R scores in predicting recidivism in SVPs in Texas. In addition, this study helped to reveal that three assessment tools, Static-99, PCL-R, and MnSOST-R do predict recidivism within the Texas SVP population. This study did reveal, however, that assessment tools as individual predictors were not significant predictors, with only the PCL-R approaching significance.

The results of this study helped to reveal that evaluating the PCL-R factors may provide insight to prevention within the SVP population and examining survival rate may also provide insight to reduction of recidivism. Learning more and developing treatment measures that are specific to the Texas SVP provides the need non-punitive measure as well, as prevention of additional victims. This study also revealed that assisting the

professionals that conduct testing to maintain competency is paramount to accuracy predictions of both SVP label and SVP recidivism.

The impact of positive social change that the study provides is in both treatment of labeled SVP, accuracy of SVP predictive recidivism, and the reduction of additional victims that can lead to loss of life to the men, women, and children of Texas society. In addition, the impact of the State of Texas providing more support for the provides that are conducting the actuarial assessment tools has the potential to reduce inaccurate labeling, professional burnout, and increase professional competency. Despite the positive social change this study revealed there were several limitations of this study. More Specifically, the lack of generalizability of this study to all SVPs due to the State of Texas Out-patient program. In addition, the near significance of the one predictor, PCL-R, may be contributed to the need to evaluated recidivism in Texas SVP based on the separate Factors of the actuarial assessment tool.

In addition, it is worth mentioning that the results of this study prove that more research is need with the SVP population. The fact that society is fearful of this small but dangerous group is not a debate but the fact that fear should not rule the decision on treatment and laws but rather research based conclusions is the direction this research hopes that lawmakers move towards. Lawmakers have proven to be more reactive than proactive, example of this is civil commitment laws, but with more research we can begin to build more laws that target issues and build a stronger society without fear and media pressure. Therefore, future replication of this study is recommended.

References

- Allan, M., Grace, R., Rutherford, B., & Hudson, S. (2007). Psychometric assessment of dynamic risk factors for child molesters. *Sex Abuse*, *19*, 347-367.
- Bartosh, D. L., Garby, T., Lewis, D., Gray, S. (2003). Differences in the predictive validity of actuarial risk assessments in relation to sex offender type. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 47, 422-438.
- Beauregard, E., Mieczkowski, T. (2009). Testing the predictive utility of the STATIC-99:

 A Bayes analysis. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 14, 187-200.
- Beech, A., Fisher, D. & Thornton, D. (2003). Risk assessment of sex offenders.

 *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 34, 339-352.
- Boccaccini, M.T., Murrie, D. C., Caperton, J. D., Hawes, S. W. (2009). Field validity of the Static-99 and MnSOST-R among sex offenders evaluated for civil commitment as sexually violent predators. *Psychology, Policy, and Law,15*, 278-314.
- Campbell, T. (2007). Asssesing sex offenders: Problems and pitfalls (2nd ed.)

 Springfield, IL: Charles Thomas.
- Campbell, M., French, S., & Gendreau, P. (2009). The prediction of violence in adult offenders: Ameta-analysis comparison of instruments and methods of assessment. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *36*, 567-590.
- Cann, J., Friendship, C. & Gozna, L. (2007). Assesing crossover in a sample of sexual offenders with multiple victims. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 12(1), 149-163.

- Council on Sex Offender Treatment (2009, June). Health and Safety Code Title 11, Chapter 841. Austin, TX: Author
- Council on Sex Offender Treatment (2010, April). Texas council Information-History of CSOT. Austin, TX: Author
- Council on Sex Offender Treatment (2010, April). Civil commitment of the sexually violent Predator-Texas Sexually Violent Predator Act. Austin, TX: Author
- Council on Sex Offender treatment (2010, June). Texas sex offender laws, Legislative rules, sex offender legislation laws. Austin, TX: Author
- Coxe, R., Holmes, W. (2001). A study of the cycle of abuse among child molesters. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 10, 111-118.
- Coxe, R., Holmes, W. (2009). A comparative study of two groups of sex offenders identified as high and low risk on the Static-99. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 18, 137-153.
- Davey, M., & Goodnough, A. (2007). Doubts rise as states hold sex offenders after prison. *New York Times*. Retrieved from http://www.nytimes.com/2007/03/04/us/04civil.html
- Deming, A. (2008). Sex offender civil commitment programs: Current practices, characteristics, and resident demographics. *Journal of Psychiatry & Law*, *36*, 439-461.
- Doren, D. M. (2002). Evaluating sex offenders: A manual for the civil commitment and beyond. London: Sage Publications.

- Doren, D. M. (2004). Stability of the Interpretative Risk Percentages for the RRASOR and Static-99. *Sexual Abuse: Journal of Research and Treatment*, 16, 25-36.
- Doren, D. M. (2004). Toward a Multidimensional Model for Sexual Recidivism Risk. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 19, 835-856.
- Elliott, I. A., Findlater, D., Hughes, T. (2010). Practice report: A review of e-safety remote computer monitoring for UK sex offenders. *Journal of Aggression*, 16, 237-248.
- Endrass, J., Urbaniok, F., Hammermeister, L. C., Benz, C., Elbert, T., Laubacher, A., Rossegger, A. (2009). The consumption of Internet child pornography and violent and sex offending. *BMC Psychiatry*, 9
- Endrass, J., Urbaniok, F., Held, L., Vetter, S., Rossegger, A. (2009). Accuracy of the static-99 in predicting recidivism in Switzerland. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 53, 482-490
- Epperson, D. L., Kaul, J. D., Huot, S. J., Hesselton, D., Alexander, W., & Goldman, R. (1998). *Minnesota Sex Offender Screening Tool-Revised (MnSOST-R)*. St. Paul, MN: Minnesota Department of Corrections.
- Epperson, D. L., Kaul, J. D., Hout, S., Goldman, R., Hesselton, D., & Alexander, W. (2003). *Minnesota sex offender screening tool—Revised (MnSOST-R) technical paper: Development, validation, and recommended risk level cut scores*. St. Paul, MN: Minnesota Department of Corrections. Retrieved from http://www.psychology.iastate.edu

- Experts: Qualifications, Tex. Stat. Art. 46B §0.22 (2004).
- Furby, L., Weinrott, M. R., Blackshaw, L. (1989). Sex offender recidivism: A review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 105, 3-30.
- Gendreau, P., Goggins, C., & Smith, P. (2002). Is the PCL-R realy the "unparalleled" measure of offender risk? A lesson in knowledge accumulation. *Criminal Justice* and Behavior, 29,397-426.
- Grove, W. M. & Lloyd, M. (2006). Meehl's contribution to clinical versus statistical prediction. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 115, 192–194.
- Guay, J.-P., Ruscio, J., Knight, R. A., & Hare, R. D. (2007). A taxometric analysis of the latent structure of psychopathy: Evidence for dimensionality. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 116, 701–716.
- Hanson, R. K., Bloom, I., Stephenson, M. (2004). Evaluating community Sex Offender

 Treatment Programs: A 12-Year Follow-Up of 724 Offenders. *Canadian Journal*of Behavioural Science/Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement, 36, 87
 96.
- Hanson, R. K., Bourgon, G., Helmus, L., Hodgson, S. (2009). The principles of effective correctional treatment also apply to sexual offenders: A meta-analysis. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *36*, 865-891.
- Hanson, R., & Bussiere, M. (1998). Predicting relaspse: A meta-analysis of sexual offender recidivism studies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 66, 348-362.

- Hanson, R., Gordon, A., Harris, A., Marques, J., Murphy, W., Quinsey, V., & Seto, M.
 (2002). First report of the collaborative outcomes data project on effectiveness of psychological treatment for sex offenders. Sexual Abuse: Ajournal of research and Treatment, 14,169-194.
- Hanson, R. K., Morton-Bourgon, K. E. (2005). The Characteristics of Persistent Sexual Offenders: A Meta-Analysis of Recidivism Studies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73, 1154-1163.
- Hanson, R. K., Morton-Bourgon, K. E. (2009). The accuracy of recidivism risk assessments for sexual offenders: A meta-analysis of 118 prediction studies. *Psychological Assessment*, 21, 1-21.
- Hanson, R. & Stephenson, M., (2004). Evaluating community sex offender treatment programs: A 12 year follow-up of 742 offernders. *Canadian Journal of Behavioral Science*, 36(2), 87-96.
- Hanson, R. K., Thornton, D. (2000). Improving risk assessments for sex offenders: A comparison of three actuarial scales. *Law and Human Behavior*, 24, Feb, 119-136.
- Hanson, R. K. (1998). What do we know about sex offender risk assessment? *Psychology, Public Policy*, and Law, 4, 50-72.
- Hanson, R. (2005). The characteristics of presistent sexual offenders: A meta-Analysis of recidivism studies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73, 1154-1163.
- Hemphill J.F., Hare R.D., & Wong S. (1998) Psychopathy and recidivism: a review.

 *Legal and Criminological Psychology, 3, 139-170.

- Harbord, R. M., & Higgins, J. P. (2008). Meta-regression in Stata. *The Stata Journal*, (8), 493-519.
- Hare, R. D. (1990). *The Psychopathy Checklist–Revised*. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Multi-Health Systems.
- Hare, R. D. (1996a). Psychopathy: A clinical construct whose time has come. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 23, 25-54.
- Hare, R. D. (2003). *The Hare Psychopathy Checklist Second Edition*. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Multi-Health Systems.
- Hare, R. D. (2006). Psychopathy: A clinical and forensic overview. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 29, 709-724.
- Hare, R. D., Harpur, T. J., Hakstian, A. R., Forth, A. E., Hart, S. D., & Newman, J. P.
 (1990). The Revised Psychopathy Checklist: Reliability and factor structure.
 Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 2, 338-341.
- Hare, R. D., & Neumann, C. S. (2008). Psychopathy as a clinical and empirical construct.

 Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 4, 217–246.
- Harpur, T. J., & Hare, R. D. (1991, August). *Psychopathy and violent behavior: Two*factors are better than one. Paper presented at the 99th Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association, San Francisco, CA.
- Harpur, T. J., Hare, R. D., & Hakstian, A. R. (1989). Two-factor conceptualization of psychopathy: Construct validity and assessment implications. *Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 1, 6–17.

- Heilbrun, K., Dvoskin, J., Hart, S.D., & McNeil, D. (1999). Violence risk communication: Implications for research, policy, and practice. Health, Risk, and Society, 1, 91-106.
- Heilbrun, K., O'Neill, M.L., Strohman, L.K., Bowman, Q., & Philipson, J. (2000). Expert approaches to communicating violence risk. Law and Human Behavior, *24*, 137-148.
- Jackson, R.L., & Hess, D. T. (2007). Evaluation of civil commitment of sex offenders: A survey of experts. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 19,425-448.
- Jackson, R. L., & Richards, H. J. (2008). Sex offender civil commitment evaluations. InR. L. Jackson (Ed.), *Learning forensic assessment* (pp. 183-209). New York:Routlege/Taylor & Francis.
- Jackson, R. L. (2008). Sex offender civil commitment: Recommendations for empirically guided evaluations. *Journal of Psychiatry & Law*, *36*, 389-429.
- Johnson, R. E., Chang, C., & Lord, R. G. (2006). Moving from cognition to behavior: What the research says. *Psychology Bulletin*, *132*, 381-415.
- Kansas v. Crane, 122 S. Ct, 867 (2002).
- Kansas v. Hendricks, 117S. Ct, 2072 (1997).
- Kingston, D. A., Firestone, P., Wexler, A., Bradford, J. M. (2008). Factors associated with recidivism among intrafamilial child molesters. *Journal of Sexual Aggression*, 14, 3-18.

- Kingston, D.A., Yates, P. M., Firestone, P., Babchishin, K., Bradford, J. M. (2008).

 Long-term predictive validity of the Risk Matrix 2000: A comparison with the Static-99 and the Sex Offender Risk Appraisal Guide. Sexual Abuse: Journal of Research and Treatment, 20, 466-484.
- LeBlanc, M., & Fitzgerald, S.W. (2000). Research design and methology section: Logistic regression for school psychology. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *15* (3), 344-358.
- Leistico, A. R., Salekin, R. T., DeCoster, J., & Rogers, R. (2008). A large-scale metaanalysis relating the Hare measures of psychopathy to antisocial conduct. *Law* and *Human Behavior*, 32, 28–45.
- Levenson, Jill S.(2003). Policy interventions designed to combat sexual violence:

 Community notification and civil commitment. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 12

 (3-4).
- Lilienfeld, S. (1998). Methodological advances and developments in the assessment of psychopathy. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *36*, 99–125.
- Lindsay, W. R. (2005). Model underpinning treatment for sex offenders with mild intellectual disability: Current theories of sex-offending. *Mental Retardation*, 43,428-441.
- Lipsey, M. W., & Wilson, D. B. (2001). Practical meta-analysis. In *Applied social* research methods series (Vol. 49). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Loza, W., & Loza-Fanous, A. (2001). The effectiveness of the self appraisal questionnaire in predicting offenders' post release outcome: A comparison study. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 28, 105–121.

- Lykken, D. T. (1995). The antisocial personalities. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Lynam, D. R., Hoyle, R. H., & Newman, J. P. (2006). The perils of partialling:

 Cautionary tales from aggression and psychopathy. *Assessment*, 13, 1-14.
- Marques, J. K., Wiederanders, M., Day, D. M., Nelson, C., Van Ommeren, A. (2005).

 Effects of a Relapse Prevention Program on Sexual Recidivism: Final Results from California's Sex Offender Treatment and Evaluation Project

 (SOTEP). Sexual Abuse: Journal of Research and Treatment, 17, 79-107.
- Marques, J. K. (1999). How to answer the question 'Does sexual offender treatment work?' *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 14, 437-451.
- Mental Health America (2010). Position statement 22: Involuntary mental health treatment. Retrieved from http://www.nmha.org/go/poosition-statements/p-36
- Meehl, P. E. (1965). Seer over sign: The first good example. *Journal of Experimental Research in Personality*, 1, 27–32.
- Meehl, P. E. (1986). Causes and effects of my disturbing little book. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 50, 370–375.
- Meehl, P. E. (1996). Clinical versus statistical prediction: A theoretical analysis and a review of the evidence. Northvale, NJ: Jason Aronson. (Original work published 1954)
- Miller, H. A., Amenta, A. E., & Conroy, M. A. (2005). Sexual violent predators evaluations: Empirical evidence, stragies for professionals, and research directions. *Law and Human Behavior*, 29 29-54.

- Mills, J. (2005). Advances in Assessment and Prediction of interpersonal violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 20, 236-241.
- Monahan, J., & Steadman, H. J. (1996). Violent storms and violent people: How meteorology can inform risk communication in mental health law. <u>American Psychologist</u>, 51, 931-938.
- Mossman, D. (2006). Another look at interpreting risk categories. *Sex Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment*, 18, 41-64.
 - Mossman, D. (2008). Analyzing the performance of risk assessment instruments: A response to Vrieze and Grove (2007). Law and Human Behavior, 32, 279-291.
- Murray, L. (2009). Review of assessing risk in sex offenders: A practitioner's guide (1st edition). *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, *14*(2), 346.
- Murrie, D. C., Boccaccini, M. T., Turner, D., Meeks, M., Woods, C., & Tussey, C.
 (2009). Rater (dis)agreement on risk assessment measures in sexually violent predators proceedings: Evidence of adversarial allegiance in forensic evaluation?
 Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 15, 19-53.
- Murphy, G., Powell, S., Guzman, A. (2007). Cognitive-behavioral treatment for men with intellectual disabilities and sexual abusive behavior: A pilot study. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, *51*, 902-912.
- Nezu, C.M., Greenberg, J., & Nezu, M.A. (2006). Project STOP: Cognitive behavioral assessment and treatment for sex offenders with intellectual disability. *Journal of Forensic Psychology Practice*, 6, 87-103.

- Patrick, C. J., Fowles, D.C., & Krueger, R. F. (2009). Triarchic conceptualization of psychopathy: Developmental origins of disinhibition, boldness, and meanness.

 *Development and Psychopathology, 21, 913-938.
- Patrick, C. J., Zempolich, K. A., & Levenston, G. K. (1997). Emotionality and violent behavior in psychopaths. In A. Raine, D. Farrington, P. Brennan, & S. A. Mednick (Eds.), *The biosocial bases of violence* (pp. 145–161). New York, NY: Plenum Press.
- Peterson, D. (2006). Paul E. Meehl's contributions to personality assessment. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 115, 201–204.
- Prentky, R.A., Lee, A.F.S., Knight, R.A., & Cerce, D. (1997). Recidivism rates among child molesters and rapists: A methodological analysis. <u>Law and Human</u>
 <u>Behavior</u>, 21(6), 635-659.
- Polizzi, D. M., MacKenzie, D. L., Hickman, L. J. (1999). What works in adult sex offender treatment? A review of prison- and non-prison-based treatment programs. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 43, 357-374.
- Roberts, C. F., Doren, D. M., Thornton, D. (2002). Dimensions associated with assessments of sex offender recidivism risk. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 29, 569-589.
- Sachsenmaier, S.J., & Peters, J.M. (2002). Sexual offender risk assessment methods and admissibility as expert witness evidence. In J.M. Peters (Ed.). Assessment and management of sex offenders: What prosecutors need to know. USA Books:

- United States Department of Justice, Child Exploitation and Obscenity Section, Washington, DC.
- Salkovskis, P.M., Thorpe, S.J., Wahl, K., et.al. (2003). Neutralizing increases discomfort associated with obsessional thoughts: An experiment study with obsessional patient. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 11, 709-715.
- Sandler, J. C., Freeman, N. J., Socia, K. M. (2008). Does a watched pot boil? A time-series analysis of New York State's sex offender registration and notification law. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law*, 14, 284-302.
- Schneider, J. E. (2008). A review of research findings related to civil commitment of sex offenders. *Journal of Psychiatry & Law*, 36, 463-483.
- Schneider, J., Bosley, J., Ferguson, G., & Main, M. (2006). The challenges of sexual offender treatment programs in correctional facilities. *The Journal of Psychiatry & Law*, *34*, 169-196.
- Schwalbe, C. S., Fraser, M. W., Day, S. H. (2007). Predictive validity of the Joint Risk Matrix with juvenile offenders: A focus on gender and race/ethnicity. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 34, 348-361.
- Seattle Times (1990, February). Sex offender bill speeded on the governor.
- Serin, R. C. (1996). Violent recidivism in criminal psychopaths. *Law and Human Behavior*, 20, 207–217.
- Skeem, J. L., Miller, J. D., Mulvey, E. P., Tiemann, J., & Monahan, J. (2005). Using a five-factor lens to explore the relation between personality traits and violence in psychiatric patients. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73, 454-465.

- Skeem, J. L., & Mulvey, E. (2001). Psychopathy and community violence among civil psychiatric patients: Results from the MacArthur Violence Risk Assessment Study. *Journal of Clinical and Consulting Psychology*, 69, 358-374.
- Slovic, P., Monahan, J., & MacGregor, D.G. (2000). Violence risk assessment and risk communication: The effects of using actual cases, providing instruction, and employing probability versus frequency formats. <u>Law and Human Behavior</u>, <u>24</u>(3), 271-296.
- Song, L., & Lieb, R. (1995). Washington State Sex Offenders: Overview of Recidivism Studies. Olympia, WA: Washington State Institute of Public Policy. 4
- Taylor, J., L., & Lindsay, W.R. (2007). Developments in the treatment and management of offenders with intellectual disabilities. *Issue in Forensic Psychology*, *6*, 23-31.
- Thornton, J. A, Stevens, G., Grant, J., Indermaur, D., Chamarette, C., Halse, A. (2008).

 Intrafamilial adolescent sex offenders: Family functioning and treatment. *Journal of Family Studies*, 14, 362-375.
- U.S. Department of Justice (1999, January 5). Megan's Law; Final guidelines for the Jacob Wetterling Crimes Against Children and Sexually Violent Offender Registration Act, as amended. *Federal Register 64*, 572-587.
- U. S. government Accountability office (2008). Civil commitment of sexually dangerous person. Federal Register 73, FR 70278. Retrieved from http://www.gao.gov/fedrules/156225
- Vrieze, S. I., & Grove, W. M. (2008). Predicting sex offender recidivism. I. Correcting for item over-selection and accuracy overestimation in scale development. II.

- Sampling-error inducted attenuation of predictive validity over base-rate information. *Law and Human Behavior*, *32*, 266-278.
- Walsh, E. and Cohen, F. (2000). Sex offender registration and community notification: A 'Megan's Law' sourcebook. Kingston, NJ: Civic Research Institute.
- Walters, G. D. (2003). Predicting institutional adjustment and recidivism with the Psychopathy Checklist factor scores: A meta-analysis. *Law and Human Behavior*, 27, 541-558.
- Walters, G. D. (2006). Risk-appraisal versus self-report in the prediction of criminal justice outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *33*, 279-304.
- Walters, G. D., & Duncan, S. A. (2005). Use of the PCL-R and PAI to predict release outcome in inmates undergoing forensic evaluation. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry and Psychology*, *16*, 459-476.
- Walter, G., Knight, R., & Thornton, D. (2009). The latent structure of sexual violent risk:

 A taximetrics analysis of widely used sex offender actuarial risk measures.

 Criminal Justice and Behavior, 36, 290-306.
- Walter, G., Deming, A. & Elliot, W. (2009). Assessing criminal thinking in male sex offenders with the psychological inventory of criminal thinking styles. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *36*, 1025-1036.
- Ward, T., Stewart, C. A. (2003). The treatment of sex offenders: Risk management and good lives. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 34, 353-360.
- Weiss, K., & Bala, C. (2009). NGRI and Megan's law: No exit? *Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law, 36*(1), 117-122.

- Wilson, Franklin T. (2004). Out of sight, out of mind: An analysis of Kansas v. Crane and the fine line between civil and criminal sanctions. *The Prison Journal*, 84, 379-394.
- Yates, P., & Kingston, D. (2006). The self-regulation model of sexual offending: The relationship between offence pathways and static and dynamic sexual offence risk. *Journal of Research and Treatment*, 18, 259-270.